

Make Your Publications Visible.

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre

Busemeyer, Marius R.; Cattaneo, Maria Alejandra; Wolter, Stefan C.

Working Paper

Individual policy preferences for vocational versus academic education micro level evidence for the case of Switzerland

MPIfG Discussion Paper, No. 10/11

Provided in Cooperation with:

Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies (MPIfG), Cologne

Suggested Citation: Busemeyer, Marius R.; Cattaneo, Maria Alejandra; Wolter, Stefan C. (2010): Individual policy preferences for vocational versus academic education micro level evidence for the case of Switzerland, MPIfG Discussion Paper, No. 10/11, Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies, Cologne

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/43289

${\bf Standard\text{-}Nutzungsbedingungen:}$

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



MPIfG Discussion Paper 10/11

Individual Policy Preferences for Vocational versus Academic Education

Micro Level Evidence for the Case of Switzerland

Marius R. Busemeyer, Maria Alejandra Cattaneo, and Stefan C. Wolter

Marius R. Busemeyer, Maria Alejandra Cattaneo, Stefan C. Wolter Individual Policy Preferences for Vocational versus Academic Education: Microlevel Evidence for the Case of Switzerland

MPIfG Discussion Paper 10/11 Max-Planck-Institut für Gesellschaftsforschung, Köln Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies, Cologne September 2010

MPIfG Discussion Paper ISSN 0944-2073 (Print) ISSN 1864-4325 (Internet)

© 2010 by the author(s)

Marius R. Busemeyer, Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies, Cologne busemeyer@mpifg.de

Maria Alejandra Cattaneo, Swiss Coordination Centre for Research in Education (SKBF-CSRE), Aarau maria.cattaneo@skbf-csre.ch

Stefan C. Wolter, University of Bern, Centre for Research in Economics of Education, and Swiss Coordination Centre for Research in Education (SKBF-CSRE), Aarau stefan.wolter@skbf-csre.ch

MPIG Discussion Papers are refereed scholarly papers of the kind that are publishable in a peer-reviewed disciplinary journal. Their objective is to contribute to the cumulative improvement of theoretical knowledge. The papers can be ordered from the institute for a small fee (hard copies) or downloaded free of charge (PDF).

Downloads

www.mpifg.de Go to *Publications / Discussion Papers*

Max-Planck-Institut für Gesellschaftsforschung Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies Paulstr. 3 | 50676 Cologne | Germany

Tel. +49 221 2767-0 Fax +49 221 2767-555 www.mpifg.de info@mpifg.de

Abstract

This paper uses an original dataset from a survey conducted in Switzerland in 2007 to explore the dynamics of education policy preferences. This issue has largely been neglected so far as most studies on welfare state attitudes do not look at preferences for education. We argue that education policy preferences vary along two dimensions: the distribution of resources across different sectors of the education system (i.e. vocational training vs. academic education) and the level of investment in education both from public and private sources. With regard to the former, the findings suggest that individual educational experience matters most, i.e., individuals prefer to concentrate resources on those educational sectors that are closest to their own educational background. With regard to the second dimension, we find that affiliation to partisan ideologies matters much more than other variables. Proponents of the left demand more investment both from the state as well as from the private sector and oppose individual tuition fees.

Zusammenfassung

Dieses Papier untersucht die Dynamik bildungspolitischer Präferenzen auf der Mikroebene. Dabei werden Daten aus einer eigenen Erhebung verwendet, die im Jahr 2007 in der Schweiz durchgeführt wurde. Die Untersuchung bildungspolitischer Präferenzen wurde in der einschlägigen Literatur zur Untersuchung von wohlfahrtsstaatlichen Einstellungen bisher vernachlässigt. Wir zeigen, dass bildungspolitische Präferenzen auf zwei Dimensionen zu verorten sind: zum einen die Verteilung von öffentlichen Mitteln auf verschiedene Bildungssektoren (berufliche vs. hochschulische Bildung) und zum anderen das Gesamtniveau der Bildungsausgaben. In Bezug auf die erste Dimension stellen wir fest, dass der individuelle Bildungshintergrund sehr prägend ist. Die Befragten unterstützten die Konzentration von öffentlichen Mitteln in denjenigen Bildungsbereichen, die sie aus der eigenen Bildungskarriere kennen. In Bezug auf die zweite Dimension lassen sich hingegen starke ideologische Effekte feststellen. Individuen, die sich ideologisch im linken Spektrum verorten, fordern mehr Bildungsausgaben vonseiten des Staates und des Privatsektors und lehnen Studiengebühren eher ab.

Contents

1	Introduction	5
2	Literature review	6
3	Theoretical framework	9
	Income and educational background	10
	Partisan identification	12
	Institutions	13
4	Data and methods	14
5	Descriptive data	18
6	Empirical results	20
	Which educational sector should receive more public funding in the future?	21
	Who should pay for the education costs?	26
7	Summary and conclusions	31
Ref	ferences	32

1 Introduction

This paper studies the determinants of individual preferences on education policy, an issue that has not yet been studied systematically in the pertinent literature. Although a sizable body of literature researching the welfare state has analyzed the determinants of individual preferences on various welfare state policies (for a more detailed review, see below), it has paid little attention to education. Additionally, the work in the field of educational sociology concentrates on studying the determinants of actual educational *choices*, i.e. transitions from one level of education to the next, but not so much the preferences on education *policies* as such.

We borrow from these two strands of literature to develop an explorative theoretical framework, focusing on the contribution of educational background, income, partisan affiliation, and institutions to explain education policy preferences. More specifically, we look at two dimensions of variation in education policy preferences: the first dimension is the distribution of public resources amongst different types of education, such as vocational training, higher education, or compulsory schooling; the second alludes to the role of the state in financing education in relation to private actors, such as individuals or training firms. In the empirical section, we rely on original data from a representative survey conducted in Switzerland in 2007.

To disclose our findings: educational background and income are important determinants of individual policy preferences concerning the *distribution* of public education spending across different sectors such as academic education versus vocational training. Individuals tend to support the concentration of public funding in those educational sectors from which they have emanated themselves. However, when it comes to the *level* of public funding, educational background and income have little explanatory power. Instead, partisan ideology becomes the dominant determinant of preferences, with proponents of the left demanding more investments in human capital – both from private as well as public sources. Also, we find that institutional context matters: concentrating public spending on vocational training is more popular in Swiss cantons with a strong tradition in vocational education.

The study of education policy preferences is important from a theoretical as well as an empirical perspective. In democratic societies, the policy preferences of individual voters matter. Of course, although voter preferences are aggregated and filtered by intermediary associations, political parties, and institutions, studies have shown that there is a link between individual attitudes and policy output (Wlezien 1995). Boeri, Börsch-Supan, and Tabellini (2001) document how widespread individual-level support for the welfare state poses a formidable obstacle to far-reaching welfare state retrenchment. Thus, we hope that the study of education policy preferences will contribute to improving our understanding of continuity and change in contemporary education systems. In particular, the study of the Swiss case can yield answers to the question whether vocational training will remain a viable alternative to academic education in the future or

whether the lack of individual support for maintaining routes of vocational education will lead to its eventual decline.

The paper is structured as follows: in the first section, we present a brief review of studies in comparative welfare-state research and educational sociology, identifying the specific shortcomings of these works and how our paper addresses them. Following that, we develop an explorative theoretical framework, which is then tested in the empirical section with data from Switzerland. The final section concludes and discusses avenues for future research.

2 Literature review

Since the late 1980s (Hasenfeld/Rafferty 1989; Papadakis 1993), a sizable literature on the individual-level determinants of social policy preferences has developed. One strand within this growing body of work is rooted in political sociology (e.g. Roller 1999; Arts/Gelissen 2001; Blekesaune 2007; Blekesaune/Quadagno 2003; Jaeger 2009; Kangas 1997, 2003; Lipsmeyer/Nordstrom 2003; Lynch/Myrskylä 2009; Van Oorschot 2006), whereas another analyzes preferences for redistribution from the perspective of political economy (Alesina/Angeletos 2005; Alesina/La Ferrara 2005; Alesina/Glaeser/Sacerdote 2001; Amable 2009; Benabou/Ok 2001; Corneo/Grüner 2000, 2002; Cusack/Iversen/Rehm 2006; Fong 2001; Iversen/Soskice 2001; Kenworthy/McCall 2008; Piketty 1995; Rehm 2009; Scheve/Stasavage 2006). Although direct interaction and cross-referencing between these two strands of literature is often lacking, some parallels between the core findings have emerged over the years.

For one, and maybe most importantly, both self-interest and ideology matter in the explanation of differences in social policy preferences (Corneo/Grüner 2002; Fong 2001; Hasenfeld/Rafferty 1989; Kangas 1997; Papadakis 1993). General support for the welfare state or redistribution is negatively correlated with income on the micro level, because the poor can expect to benefit more from generous welfare state policies than the rich (but see Moene and Wallerstein 2003 for a different argument). Moreover, for individual social policies with different redistributive implications, it has been shown that those who expect to benefit from the program in question are also more supportive of its existence (Hasenfeld/Rafferty 1989; Kangas 2003; Van Oorschot 2006). More recent work emphasizes the importance of labor market risk (Rehm 2009). According to Iversen and Soskice (2001), people with more specific skills are more supportive of redistribution, because they face a greater risk of income loss in case of unemployment. ¹

In a related argument, Wasmer (2006) theoretically demonstrates that a bounteous welfare state could be a condition necessary to prompt people to invest in occupation-specific skills versus general skills (typically, vocational education as opposed to academic education), because the

Thus, in sum, the self-interest hypothesis states that policy preferences of individuals are largely determined by their economic position in the context of both the general economy and the welfare state.

However, research has also demonstrated that self-interest alone cannot account for the observed variety of policy preferences. Ideological orientations matter in addition to and beyond pure self-interest. In classic research designs, this question is framed in terms of the explanatory power of belonging, on the one hand, to various "transfer classes," which are based on differences in access to the benefits of welfare state policies, and on the other, to politico-economic classes (i.e., labor and the bourgeoisie) (Papadakis 1993). Transfer-class cleavages (e.g., old age in the case of pensioners) can cut across politico-economic cleavages, so that evidence for the relevance of transfer classes is interpreted as support for the thesis of self-interest, whereas the continued existence of political alignment within politico-economic classes is taken as support for the relevance of ideological factors. Hence, the relevance of partisan ideology in addition to and beyond economic self-interest can simply be controlled for in multivariate regression analyses by including partisan self-identification as an independent variable (e.g., in Bean and Papadakis 1998).

In addition to partisan ideology, general value orientations matter as well. Van Oorschot highlights the importance of perceptions of "deservingness" for individual support regarding different welfare policies (Van Oorschot 2006). Policies aimed at groups of people that are perceived as "deserving," such as old, sick, and disabled people, find more support than policies for the "undeserving," such as immigrants. His findings are similar to those in a strand of research in political economy that shows that individuals who believe that social and economic hardship is a consequence of bad luck or fate are more supportive of redistribution than individuals who attribute hardship to individual idleness (Alesina/Glaeser/Sacerdote 2001; Fong 2001; Corneo/Grüner 2002; Alesina/Angeletos 2005; Alesina/La Ferrara 2005). Scheve and Stasavage (2006) demonstrate how redistributive preferences are also associated with religious orientations. More religious persons are less supportive of redistribution because their faith lowers the psychological costs of hardship.

Institutional context also matters, although in this field of research, the findings are less conclusive and more ambiguous than in the previous ones. A classical topic in comparative welfare state research is to probe whether welfare state institutions shape individual preferences. Rothstein (1998) argues convincingly that "just" institutions (i.e., universal welfare state institutions that are perceived as being fair) increase the support for the welfare state in general. In line with this argument, a number of studies have looked at the association between the clustering of support for social policies and Esping-Andersen's "worlds of welfare capitalism" (Esping-Andersen 1990) with the expectation

that support for the welfare state would be strongest in the Scandinavian countries and lowest in the Anglo-Saxon world (Papadakis 1993; Bean/Papadakis 1998; Arts/Gelissen 2001; Blekesaune/Quadagno 2003; Lipsmeyer/Nordstrom 2003). The results, however, are far from conclusive. Differences in support between countries do not necessarily vary in line with the worlds of welfare capitalism, although recent work by Jaeger (2009), using a new methodological approach, seems to yield more robust results. Nevertheless, a crucial finding is that welfare state policies are popular in general, even in meager welfare states such as the United States (Fraile/Ferrer 2005; Hasenfeld/Rafferty 1989; Roller 1999). Of course, one also needs to take into account the fact that most survey questions ask about *changes* in social policy generosity, and respondents in universal welfare states might be less supportive of further extensions of the welfare state because it is already fully developed. Another general problem is that the direction of causality between welfare state institutions and individual preferences is not clear. Brooks and Manza (2007), for example, argue that individual policy preferences trigger changes in social policy, whereas Kenworthy (2009) questions the validity of that claim by showing that the expansion of welfare state generosity *preceded* an upsurge in popular support.

In addition to contributions in comparative welfare state research, recent work in educational sociology might help shed light on the determinants of individual-level policy preferences. Beginning with the seminal contributions of Breen and Goldthorpe (Goldthorpe 1996; Breen/Goldthorpe 1997; see also Esser 1999) in the 1990s and, earlier, Boudon (1974), scholars have tried to answer the question why, despite decades of educational expansion, class differences in educational attainment continue to persist (Blossfeld/Shavit 1993; Raftery/Hout 1993). Breen and Goldthorpe (1997) show how class-related differences in the perception of relative costs and benefits of continued investments in education constitute class differentials in levels of educational attainment, although individual decisions are based on rational choices. Hillmert and Jacob (2002) extend the Breen-Goldthorpe model by demonstrating that differences in the perception of costs and benefits not only affect individual decisions to continue or discontinue education, but also the choice between vocational training and general, academic education. Given the same choice opportunities, individuals with a lower socio-economic background tend to opt for vocational training instead of academic education, because they perceive university education as involving higher costs in the form of deferred income, a higher risk of failure, and lower benefits, because completion of higher education is less necessary to maintain their class position relative to that of their parents (Breen/Goldthorpe 1997). Over the years, the Breen-Goldthorpe model and its extensions have found significant empirical support (Becker 2003; Becker/Hecken 2009; Jaeger 2007; Stocké 2007).

What are the shortcomings in the literature and how does this paper address them? The most obvious one is that none of the studies introduced above looks at preferences for education policy specifically. Studies in the field of comparative welfare state research include various social policies as dependent variables, but usually not education, although education is indeed featured regularly as a control variable at the micro level.

There are only very few exceptions to this general rule. For example, Busemeyer, Goerres and Weschle (2009) find that older people are less supportive of increased spending on education in most OECD countries. Grob and Wolter (2007) and Cattaneo and Wolter (2009) find similar results for Switzerland. In the US context, Button (1992) shows that older people are less supportive of increases in school funding in local referenda. Nevertheless, the general dearth of studies is surprising, because like other social policies, policies governing investments in education have obvious redistributive implications. However, heeding the fateful claim of Wilensky (1975: 3) that "education is special," comparative welfare state research has tended to neglect the study of education as an integral part of the welfare state (Iversen/Stephens 2008). *Ex ante*, it is an open empirical and theoretical question whether the associations identified for other social policies also hold for the case of education policy preferences. Still, as we will show below, it is possible to utilize this literature to devise concrete hypotheses.

Work in educational sociology, however, tries to explain individual educational choices, not policy preferences. It seems reasonable to assume that policy preferences are also somehow reflected in educational decisions, and, in fact, this is the reason why we introduce this strand of literature here to help develop an explorative framework. Yet it might also be the case that policy preferences are genuinely different from educational decisions. The reason is that policy preferences are less constrained than actual decisions. Boudon (1974) was the first to point out the importance of the primary and secondary effects of class on educational attainment. Breen and Goldthorpe (1997: 277) focus on secondary effects, i.e., the way class background affects educational choices, given the same level of previous educational attainment. However, because of differences in the availability of cultural capital and other resources, we can expect to find classrelated differences in academic ability even without taking educational decisions into account (primary effects). Due to the existence of primary effects, policy preferences of individuals from lower socio-economic backgrounds might actually be quite different from educational decisions. For example, such individuals could well support the expansion of academic education, although they do not believe their own children might benefit from it in the short term because of lower academic ability. Hence, the comparison of the impact of class on education policy preferences vis-à-vis educational choices might shed light on the relative importance of primary versus secondary effects, although this issue is not pursued further in the present paper due to the lack of suitable empirical data.

3 Theoretical framework

As is the case with all policies, individual preferences in education policy vary tremendously (see Tables 1 and 2 for descriptive data). In our analysis, we focus on aspects of financing education. As a plausible point of departure, we posit that individual preferences

can be mapped on a two-dimensional matrix. The first dimension captures the distribution of public moneys across different educational sectors. Primarily, we are interested in the distribution of resources between academic education, on the one hand, and vocational education and training, on the other. As will become clear in a moment, this distinction maps more directly onto current debates in the welfare-state and political-economy literature than, say, the juxtaposition of compulsory schooling and post-secondary education. The second dimension alludes to the distribution of the costs of education and the role of the state in financing human capital formation, i.e., whether the costs of education should be borne by the state or by private actors, such as individual students or training firms. It may well be the case that there are more than two dimensions of variation or that the two are actually closely correlated, so that they reduce to one common factor. Nevertheless, we believe that assuming these two dimensions is a plausible point of departure. The findings of the empirical analysis will confirm this hunch.

In the following, we will develop testable hypotheses, inspired by the abovementioned literature, about the impact of income, educational background, partisan affiliation, and institutions on education policy preferences. However, in comparison with most welfare state policies, the causal associations are not as clear-cut in the case of education, as will become clear in a moment. Therefore, most of the hypotheses are formulated in an open manner, because the literature leads to conflicting, ambiguous, but nevertheless equally plausible expectations.

Income and educational background

Income is regarded as an important determinant of redistributive preferences (Meltzer/Richard 1981; Moene/Wallerstein 2003; Cusack/Iversen/Rehm 2006). In the original Meltzer–Richard model, the straightforward expectation is that wealthy people oppose redistribution, because they would have to pay more for it, via higher taxes, than they could profit from it. In contrast, the less well-off are in favor of redistribution, because they benefit from higher transfer payments. Recent work has shown that at the macrolevel, the predictions of the Meltzer–Richard model do not pan out as expected since income inequality and welfare state provision are positively, not negatively, related (Iversen/Soskice 2009), which, according to Moene and Wallerstein (2003), can be interpreted as a consequence of the insurance function of social policies (see also Iversen/Soskice 2001). Nevertheless, at the micro level, a negative association between income and support for redistribution is to be expected.

The case of education, however, is less straightforward than purer forms of redistribution. With regard to our first dimension – the distribution of public moneys across educational sectors – it seems reasonable to expect individuals to support the concentration of resources in the educational sector that they expect their children to attend, which is also in line with the logic of "transfer classes" in welfare state research (Bean/Papadakis

1998). In a similar vein, it could be expected that individuals support the concentration of resources on the kind of education that they themselves have enjoyed. This holds true in particular in a country like Switzerland, where vocational training is generally regarded as a viable alternative to academic higher education and remains an important factor in the socialization of young people into different occupations.

However, plausible alternative expectations exist. With regard to redistributive preferences, the "prospect of upward mobility thesis" (Benabou/Ok 2001) states that the poor will oppose redistribution if they expect to become wealthy in the near future – an explanation that has been applied plausibly to the case of the United States (Alesina/Glaeser/Sacerdote 2001: 208). Clearly, education is an important instrument to promote upward social mobility. Therefore, it may well be the case that less well-off people with an educational background in vocational education support the concentration of public resources in higher education, because, as a consequence of the ubiquitous force of educational expansion, they expect their children to attend higher education instead of vocational training.

What is more, wealthy individuals might support the concentration of public resources in vocational education instead of higher education. Given the class bias regarding access to higher levels of education, wealthy and/or well-educated people expect their children to attend university in any case. The promotion of vocational education would then serve the purpose of diverting young people from lower income classes from taking up university study, attenuating competition for access to universities and on highskill labor markets. Furthermore, wealthy people do not depend on the public funding of higher education to the same extent as middle-class or low-income people do, because they can resort to private means of funding more easily.

With regard to our second dimension of variation – the distribution of the costs of education – the predictions are equally ambiguous ex ante. On the one hand, low-income people could support the state taking over a large share of the costs of university education, because they believe their children will attend this kind of education in the near future and financing obstacles such as tuition fees are more important for less well-off people than for wealthy individuals. On the other hand, they could also oppose the expansion of the state's share in financing higher education, because they perceive this as a redistributive measure from their own class to the upper income ones. Furthermore, low-income people and/or individuals with a background in vocational education can be expected to support the statement that business should take over more financial responsibility in vocational training. For their part, wealthy people clearly benefit from state subsidization of the costs of higher education. Therefore, they should support the expansion of the role of the state in financing university education. However, the very wealthy could oppose further involvement of the state, because they can resort to private means of funding and would prefer to keep university education an elite system (Ansell 2008). In fact, high-income people could well support both tuition fees, in order to limit access to higher education, and the generous subsidization of universities by the state, because they benefit most from these subsidies.

In sum, the impact of income and individual educational background on individual education policy preferences is ambiguous from a theoretical perspective. On the one hand, it could be expected that individuals with little income and education support the concentration of resources in educational sectors close to their own educational trajectories, i.e., vocational training, and oppose the expansion of state financing in higher (academic) education, because this is perceived to benefit upper income classes. Members of the more privileged strata of society would then support the concentration of resources on academic education and the participation of the state in shouldering a larger share of these costs. On the other hand, members of the lower income classes could also support the expansion of academic education, because they believe their children will benefit from public support for academic education in the near future. The higher income classes could well oppose this expansion of public higher education to maintain privileged access to higher levels of education or they could support it if they can ensure that limits to access are maintained, e.g., with the help of high tuition fees. The empirical analysis below will show which of theses hypotheses receives more support. As income and educational attainment are positively correlated, it is important to test the hypotheses in a multivariate framework where all the explanatory variables are included in the regressions at the same time.

Partisan identification

In social policy, political parties send out clear signals: leftist parties support the expansion of the welfare state, while rightist parties oppose it (Castles 1982). Again, in education policy, the relationships are more ambiguous, because the redistributive implications of educational investments are not as clear-cut. Some studies find that leftist parties support the expansion of education to a similar extent as the expansion of the welfare state (Busemeyer 2007; Schmidt 2007). Contrary to this, Ansell, in part following Boix (1998), argues that social democratic parties are more reluctant to increase investments in higher education, because families from upper income classes - usually not the core clientele of leftist parties - benefit from this measure to a greater extent than working-class constituencies (Ansell 2008). Jensen (2011) posits that partisan politics in general do not matter much with regard to the level of educational spending, which should be understood as a consequence of de-industrialization in conjunction with the specific economic institutional context. Finally, Busemeyer (2009) finds that the governmental participation of social democrats leads to increased public spending on higher education in particular. It is an open question whether this new zeal of the left for investments in tertiary education should be seen as an attempt to appeal to new voter groups in the middle class or whether it reflects changing education policy preferences of their core electoral constituencies.

The present paper can help clear up some of these ambiguities because we can directly observe the impact of partisan identification on education policy preferences. Of great-

est interest here are the education policy interests of proponents of the left, because it is on this point that the literature yields the most conflicting predictions. If voters support the kind of education closest to their own educational interests and experiences, we would expect proponents of the left to support the concentration of public resources in vocational education, whereas the sympathizers of the right should support academic education. However, as a consequence of educational expansion, the traditional supporters of the left might be keener on expanding public higher academic education to promote social mobility for their children. If this were true, "academic drift" would contribute over time to the fading out of vocational education. Obviously, these considerations parallel those on the impact of income and education since partisan identification is correlated with these two.

Still, partisan affiliation might play a larger role with regard to the second dimension of variation in education policy preferences - the distribution of costs between the individual, on the one hand, and the state and training firms, on the other. Here, a stronger ideological separation between supporters of the left and the right can be expected above and beyond the impact of income and education, because the relationship between public and individual responsibility in the financing of public policies such as education is at the core of the left-right dichotomy. More specifically, we hypothesize that individuals identifying with the left prefer the state to take over a greater responsibility in financing education, which leads them, for example, to oppose proposals to have students pay higher tuition fees and support the expansion of funding for vocational schools. In countries such as Switzerland, where vocational training is largely firm-based and costs are shared between the apprentice, the state, and the training firm (see Wolter/Mühlemann/Schweri 2006), we could also expect leftist sympathizers to demand that training firms take over a larger share of training costs (e.g., by paying higher apprentice wages). In contrast, individuals who identify with conservative parties are expected to care less about expanding subsidies to vocational schools and increasing the cost share of training firms or tuition fees.

Institutions

Individual preferences are influenced by the institutional context above and beyond the hard constraints institutions immediately impose on actors. Institutions define different logics of appropriate behavior (March/Olsen 1984) and socialize individuals into a specific political and cultural context. Educational institutions, for example, shape the perceptions and images of a "decent" education and thus affect educational decisions and policy preferences. Because of strong federalism, the education systems of the Swiss cantons differ significantly (Wolter 2007). In German-speaking Switzerland, firm-based vocational training in the form of apprenticeships predominates (post-) secondary education as it does in Germany. Yet in Latin Switzerland (French- and Italian-speaking), school-based vocational education and academic education are more

prominent, reminiscent of the state-centered education model of neighboring France. *Prima facie*, we expect stronger support for the concentration of public resources on vocational education in the cantons where a larger share of a typical youth cohort goes through apprenticeship training. However, in cantons with a low percentage of youths in apprenticeship training, "academic drift" is more pronounced; therefore, the general support for concentrating public resources on higher academic education is greater. Similarly, we expect that residents of cantons with a higher share of either school-based vocational or academic education are more supportive of expanding the state's share in financing education, whereas individuals in cantons with strong apprenticeship training demand a strong involvement of business, i.e., training firms. To study the effect of each of these factors separately (ceteris paribus), we will show in Section 6 the results of applying multivariate analysis techniques.

4 Data and methods

To study the hypotheses presented in the previous section, we commissioned the professional survey institute "Gesellschaft für praktische Sozialforschung" (GfS)² to collect data from a representative sample of Swiss citizens.³ The sample contains information on 2,025 Swiss citizens over the age of 25. The data were collected in May 2007 using Computer Assisted Telephone Interviewing (CATI). The interviews were held in German, French, or Italian, depending on the language region. Apart from individual socioeconomic and family characteristics, respondents were asked to express their opinion on a series of questions concerning education and educational financing.

The goal of this paper is to analyze the determinants of individual preferences for public spending as directly as possible, focusing mainly on the influence of educational background, income, partisan affiliation, and cantonal institutions. As mentioned in Section -3, we are interested in two dimensions of education financing preferences: the sector to which individuals would like public money to be allocated, and whether the costs should be borne by the state or by private actors.

The GfS institute is one of the leading institutes in Switzerland carrying out opinion polls. It has a long tradition in political analyses and representative polls for elections and referenda and is therefore well known in the Swiss population.

³ The sample was selected randomly using the Swiss telephone book. The selection was performed in several steps. The first step included all people who had a telephone connection. Then it was determined how many surveys should be conducted within each language region (based on the Swiss census). Within each household, the respondent was also chosen randomly, i.e., the person who had his/her birthday first or last during the calendar year. In addition to the language region, there were also quotas for age, gender, education, and marital status, in order to avoid bias due to respondents' reachability.

Two specific questions were developed⁴ to analyze the first dimension, i.e., the distribution of public resources across the different educational sectors.⁵ The first was: "In which educational sector would you prefer public money be spent in the future?" Respondents could choose from five possibilities: preschool, primary or elementary school, university-track upper secondary school (Gymnasium), vocational training (basic vocational education at the upper secondary level), tertiary education (including higher vocational training, academic universities, universities of applied sciences, and teacher training colleges), and continuing education. The wording of the second question on the distribution of resources across educational sectors offered fewer answer categories in order to tease out more clearly the differences in preferences between vocational and academic education: "Provided you could choose the sector in which your taxes should be spent, which one would you select?" There were only two possible answers: Gymnasien and universities, on the one hand, or vocational training, on the other.⁷ The wording of this question thus forces respondents to prioritize between academic and vocational education.

The second dimension concerns the role of the state in financing education. In Switzerland vocational/professional education is mostly privately financed (either by the student or by the firm), while academic or general education (Gymnasien and universities) are publicly financed. In order to analyze the financing preferences, we used four questions that refer to different types of education, i.e., vocational or general academic. The advantage of using four different specific questions instead of a single general one is that it allowed us to better check the consistency of the response patterns and avoid results that would be based on framing effects.

The questions were as follows:

- "Do you think that the state should pay for higher vocational/professional training?" - "Yes/No"8

All the questions had been pretested in order to ensure that they were understood in the way the authors had intended them to be.

This approach makes sense in the context of Switzerland with its highly developed system of direct democracy, where voters are frequently asked to express their views on similar questions at the polls. Direct democracy allows Swiss citizens to influence policy-making at almost every stage of decision-making through the right to propose new laws or the possibility to hinder new legislation by referendum.

There is no exact equivalent across English-speaking countries to the Swiss Gymnasium. Gymnasien are upper secondary schools with limited access based on academic ability. They lead up to the Matura (baccalaureate), which qualifies for admission to the university system.

In both questions the respondents could choose only one answer category. The alternative to invest "equally in all sectors" was not included because we supposed that a large part of the respondents would have chosen this answer, which would not have been very informative for our purposes of contrasting different types of education. Also, we think that having to make choices corresponds more closely to real political decisions.

ISCED stands for International Standard Classification of Education. In contrast to academic

- "Do you think that students attending universities and universities of applied sciences should pay most of their education costs through fees and tuition?" "Yes/No"
- "Do you think that the private sector invests enough in vocational training?" "Yes/No"
- "Do you think that the public sector invests enough in vocational training schools?"
 "Yes/No"

Contrary to the first block of questions, these questions do not only ask which types of education (here, vocational vs. academic) the respondent prefers to see financed by public investments but also about the role and the degree of involvement of the state relative to the private sector.

Section 3 pointed out that the association between the individuals' educational background and education policy preferences could be quite ambiguous. In order to test the hypotheses presented there, we created four education dummies based on the highest level of education attained and following standard degree classification. The first dummy is *compulsory school*, which includes people who just completed primary school or lower secondary school. The dummy *apprenticeship* includes all people who completed a vocational training at the upper secondary level, the dummy *tertiary nonacademic* includes all people who completed vocational training at the tertiary level (this includes higher degrees in vocational/professional training [ISCED 5B], universities of applied sciences and teacher training colleges⁹). Finally, *academic education* includes all people with a diploma from a *Gymnasium* or a university degree.

With respect to income, respondents were asked about their net monthly household income, and each respondent could choose among five income classes. We generated a binary variable for each income category. Missing values were imputed using the Swiss Labor Force Survey as an information source.

In order to control for political orientation, we created three dummy variables: right, center, and left. ¹⁰ The individuals were asked to indicate their political sympathies using an 11-point scale from 0 to 10, in which 0 represented the extreme left and 10 the extreme right. The indicator 'right' was created by assigning 1 to all people who ranked themselves with a 7 or higher; 'left' was created by assigning 1 to people who responded

- higher education (ISCED 5A) with low tuition costs, higher vocational/professional education (ISCED 5B) asks for a high share of private investment in Switzerland.
- 9 Until 2002, teacher training was organized in some 150 decentralized education colleges at the upper secondary or tertiary levels. Since then, 18 new teacher-training colleges (Pädagogische Hochschulen) that enjoy the status of tertiary education institutions have replaced the old institutions. However, they are not entitled to award doctoral degrees as do academic universities.
- 10 We include dummy variables instead of a linear predictor in order to allow for a flexible functional form. We also tried the specification with a linear form. The results were not substantially different. Therefore, we kept the dummies, as this allows a numerical interpretation of the coefficients.

by giving themselves a 3 or lower. The rest (4, 5, 6) were classified as 'center' (the distribution of the variable can be seen in Tables 1 and 2). The categorization of the variable has produced distributions that are compatible with the voter shares for political parties that occupy the left, right, or middle positions on the political spectrum.

With regard to institutions, we created a variable that captures the importance of vocational training in a Canton, namely the proportion of the total population in the canton with a vocational training degree as their highest educational degree (Bundesamt für Statistik 2008).

The main control variables, apart from education, income, partisan affiliation, and institutions, are age, gender, language region, school-age children (whether the respondent has children in school), and residence (whether the respondent lives in a city, an agglomeration, or a rural area).

Furthermore, we also included a control question on each individual's general willingness to increase educational spending, which could also be related to, for example, partisan affiliation or income level. The exact question read: "Assume you have to vote in a cantonal referendum on a proposition calling for a 10-percent increase of educational expenditures to improve the teacher/child ratio in elementary and secondary schools. If the vote were today, would you support the initiative/proposition, yes or no?"11 The inclusion of this control variable also partially solves the potential problem of endogeneity, i.e., the fact that strong support for more public spending constitutes partisan affiliation and not vice versa. It should also be noted that the inclusion of the spending propensity variable is not a causal statement. Instead, it is supposed to take out the variation in the dependent variable that can be attributed to some kind of intrinsic motivation to increase spending in order to get a cleaner estimate of the effect of the other independent variables.¹²

¹¹ Initiatives with similar propositions have been put to a vote in several Swiss cantons in recent years. Therefore, the question can be regarded as a realistic one in the Swiss political context. We used the canton as the political and geographical area because, in most cantons, such measures are voted on at the cantonal level. School districts have various degrees of freedom to implement measures and to run schools, but in most cantons they cannot decide on the overall amount of resources devoted to education. Even if school districts or communities in most cantons raise taxes to pay for education, the level of funding and spending is decided at the cantonal level in order to ensure equity in the provision of education.

¹² As can be seen below, the inclusion of this variable does not have an impact on the statistical significance and direction of the other independent variables, indicating that not including this variable would not cause an omitted variable bias and that including it does not cause a problem of multicollinearity.

5 Descriptive data

Tables 1 and 2 provide the descriptive summary of the data. To simplify the analysis of the first question, we merged preschool, primary, and lower secondary school into one category (compulsory school), and tertiary education (including universities, universities of applied science and teacher training colleges) and *Gymnasien* into another one (tertiary education). The results in Table 1 show that 56 percent of the respondents would prefer to assign more funds to compulsory school, while only 8 percent of the

Table 1 Descriptive statistics: Which sector should be promoted? (in percent)

	Compulsory schooling	Vocational training	Tertiary education	Continuing education	Total (percentage)
Male	0.52	0.24	0.09	0.15	1009
	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	50%
Female	0.59	0.22	0.06	0.13	1016
	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	50%
Compulsory school	0.57	0.27	0.05	0.11	495
	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.01)	24%
Apprenticeship	0.52	0.24	0.08	0.16	961
	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	47%
Tertiary nonacademic	0.63	0.19	0.07	0.11	339
	(0.03)	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.02)	17%
Tertiary academic	0.55	0.17	0.14	0.14	230
	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.02)	(0.02)	11%
Income < 3000 CHF	0.54	0.24	0.09	0.13	231
	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.02)	(0.02)	11%
Income 3000–5000 CHF	0.55	0.25	0.07	0.13	483
	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.02)	24%
Income 5000-7000 CHF	0.55	0.22	0.07	0.16	521
	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.02)	26%
Income 7000–9000 CHF	0.57	0.22	0.07	0.14	398
	(0.03)	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.02)	20%
Income > 9000 CHF	0.56	0.22	0.11	0.11	392
	(0.03)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	19%
Right	0.52	0.26	0.09	0.13	516
	(0.03)	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.02)	25%
Left	0.62	0.19	0.08	0.11	356
	(0.03)	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.02)	18%
Center	0.55	0.23	0.07	0.15	1153
	(0.03)	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.02)	57%
Children in school	0.59	0.25	0.06	0.10	701
	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.01)	35%
No children in school	0.54	0.22	0.08	0.16	1324
	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	65%
Vocational training rate	0.74 (0.31)	0.70 (1.04)	0.71 (0.54)	0.73 (0.66)	73%
Total	0.55	0.23	0.08	0.14	

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses.

respondents would support an increase in expenditures for academic education. The support for academic education amongst those with a tertiary academic degree is above the mean, whereas the opposite is true for people with just compulsory schooling. The

Table 2 Descriptive statistics: Who should pay for the different educational costs? (in percent)

	Voc rather than general educ (1)	Higher voc educ financed by public funds (2)	Students should pay fees (3)	Private sector invests enough in voc educ (4)	Public sector invests enough in voc schools (5)
Male	0.88	0.61	0.50	0.35	0.54
	(0.01)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)
Female	0.86	0.64	0.44	0.23	0.40
	(0.01)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.02)
Compulsory school	0.92	0.63	0.56	0.41	0.52
	(0.01)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.03)
Apprenticeship	0.88	0.60	0.48	0.30	0.48
	(0.01)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)
Tertiary nonacademic	0.86	0.67	0.43	0.20	0.41
	(0.02)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.02)	(0.03)
Tertiary academic	0.74	0.68	0.33	0.20	0.47
	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.04)
Income < 3000	0.85	0.62	0.53	0.27	0.41
	(0.02)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.04)
Income 3000–5000	0.90	0.67	0.47	0.30	0.48
	(0.01)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.03)
Income 5000–7000	0.90	0.62	0.50	0.33	0.49
	(0.01)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.03)
Income 7000–9000	0.87	0.63	0.41	0.27	0.47
	(0.02)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.02)	(0.03)
Income > 9000	0.82	0.59	0.47	0.29	0.52
	(0.02)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.02)	(0.03)
Right	0.88	0.54	0.54	0.39	0.55
	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.03)
Left	0.84	0.75	0.33	0.14	0.37
	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.03)	(0.02)	(0.03)
Center	0.88	0.62	0.48	0.30	0.48
	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.02)
Children in school	0.86	0.64	0.39	0.23	0.43
	(0.01)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)
No children in school	0.88	0.62	0.52	0.33	0.50
	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.02)
Vocational training rate	0.73	0.71	0.75	0.75	0.75
	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.04)	(0.04)
Total	0.87	0.63	0.47	0.30	0.48

Notes: (1) Provided you could choose the sector in which your taxes should be spent, which one would you select? General education or Vocational training; (2) Do you think that the state should pay for higher vocational/professional training? Yes/No; (3) Do you think that students attending universities and universities of applied sciences should pay most of their study costs through fees and tuition? Yes/No (4) Do you think that the private sector invests enough in vocational training? Yes/No (5) Do you think that the public sector invests enough in vocational training schools? Yes/No. Standard errors in parentheses.

difference in support between the groups is statistically significant. Income, however, does not seem to explain differences in the preferences. Right-wing voters are more likely to support apprenticeships (vocational education) than voters with preferences for leftist positions. People with children in school are more likely to support extra funds directed to compulsory schooling, while they prefer less public money invested in continuing education, in comparison to people who do not have children or have children who are not attending school.

Regarding the questions about who should finance the costs of education, i.e., whether they should be borne mostly by the private sector or by the state, the results show that about 60 percent of the respondents would like higher vocational/professional training degrees to be financed by public funds, almost half of the respondents think students at universities and universities of applied sciences should pay for their study with higher tuition fees, half of the respondents think that the state invests enough in vocational training schools, but only 30 percent think that this is the case with respect to the private economy. Concerning the questions related to the financing of education, i.e., our second set of questions, Table 2 shows that there are significant differences between political ideologies, with voters of the right being satisfied with the level of public and private investments. People with compulsory schooling only and people without children in school show a greater, statistically significant inclination to support the proposal that academic students should pay higher tuition fees. They are also more satisfied with the amount of private investment made in vocational training compared with individuals holding tertiary degrees and those having children in school, respectively.

Descriptive results seem to indicate that it is primarily the educational background of voters and the fact of having school-age children that matters most in explaining differences in educational preferences and the ways to finance education. Political affiliation seems to be important only for determining how education expenditures should be financed. However, it might be that several of the independent variables are correlated, i.e., people with a certain educational background are more likely to have a certain political ideology. Therefore we use multivariate analyses in order to study the effect of each of these factors separately (ceteris paribus).

6 Empirical results

The hypotheses concerning individual preferences for public spending in education, outlined in Section 3, are studied here using standard multivariate econometric techniques.

Which educational sector should receive more public funding in the future?

To analyze this first dimension, we posed two questions. In the first one, respondents were asked which educational sector should have the highest priority in the allocation of public money in the future. We grouped the possible answers in four categories: compulsory schooling, apprenticeship training (upper-secondary-level, firm-based, and basic vocational training), tertiary education (including Gymnasien, higher vocational training, teacher training, and universities), and continuing education. We use a standard multinomial logit model that allows us to evaluate the relative impact of spending public funds for each of the educational levels (with tertiary education as the reference category).

The results are presented in Table 3. Specification 3 shows that respondents with an academic education (Gymnasium or academic university degree) are less willing to prioritize educational spending on compulsory schooling or apprenticeship training over an increase in spending on tertiary education as compared with people with nonacademic education. The probability of favoring investment in compulsory schooling is 56 percent for the highly educated, whereas this probability is 60 percent for people with basic school qualifications. People with compulsory school and apprenticeship as their highest level of completed education are also more likely to support spending on apprenticeship training (about 26 and 24 percent, respectively). This is in line with the hypothesis that individuals prefer to assign resources to the educational sector that corresponds to their own educational trajectory. Interestingly, people who completed a nonacademic tertiary education are also more willing to support increases of public funds assigned to apprenticeship relative to tertiary education as compared with people with an academic educational background. The predicted probability of people who completed a tertiary academic level to choose funding for tertiary education is approximately 17 percent, while this probability is 19 percent for people with a tertiary nonacademic degree. This means respondents with an academic background have 2 percentage points less probability of supporting apprenticeships.

Neither income levels nor political preferences – once controlled for educational background – seem to explain differences in the response patterns. Educational institutions and traditions of the canton of residence, however, have a significant influence. Respondents who live in cantons where vocational training is more common give greater support to spending extra money on apprenticeship training or compulsory schooling relative to tertiary education. The age of the respondent also matters; somewhat surprisingly, the older the person is, the more likely this person prefers investment in tertiary education. Therefore, there is no evidence that the support for vocational education or apprenticeship training stems primarily from the older and more tradition-oriented share of the population. Respondents with children in school have – as one could expect - a higher preference for spending public money on compulsory schooling than on tertiary education but are indifferent in the choice between vocational training and tertiary education. Also surprisingly, respondents living in the French- and Italian-speaking

Table 3 To which education sector should more public resources be assigned?

	(1)	(2)	(3)
Compulsory schooling			
Right	343* (.202)	419** (.209)	192 (.176)
Left	.0476 (.241)	.113 (.246)	.119 (.255)
Compulsory school		1.19*** (.323)	1.07*** (.342)
Apprenticeship		.429* (.249)	.277 (.298)
Tertiary, nonacademic		.837*** (.306)	.713*** (.212)
Income 3000–5000 CHF		.459 (.322)	.307 (.418)
Income 5000–7000 CHF		.443 (.314)	.16 (.342)
Income 7000–9000 CHF		.593* (.334)	.267 (.411)
Income > 9000 CHF		.158 (.317)	218 (.466)
Vocational training rate			.0315** (.0158)
Children in school			.317** (.149)
Age			021*** (.00509)
Male			514*** (.191)
Latin Switzerland			0703 (.458)
Rural areas			.0467 (.322)
Small town			144 (.177)
Constant	2.04*** (.121)	1.12*** (.343)	.507 (1.14)

cantons (Latin cantons), who generally share a lack of cultural affinity to the Germanic model of apprenticeship training, are more willing to invest in apprenticeship training than in tertiary education; this difference between the language regions is significant in models with or without controls for the share of people having a vocational education degree in the canton of residence. Specifically, individuals from the French- and Italian-speaking regions have a 16-percentage-point greater probability of supporting apprenticeship than individuals from the German-speaking regions. It shows that the support for apprenticeship training does not have to rely solely on tradition.

Table 3 continued

	(1)	(2)	(3)
Apprenticeship			
Right	168 (.218)	–.211 (.225)	0943 (.179)
Left	249 (.266)	113 (.272)	128 (.308)
Compulsory school		1.5*** (.359)	1.47*** (.341)
Apprenticeship		.783*** (.289)	.714** (.331)
Tertiary, nonacademic		.805** (.351)	.762** (.315)
Income 3000–5000 CHF		.52 (.347)	.479 (.329)
Income 5000–7000 CHF		.356 (.341)	.257 (.296)
Income 7000–9000 CHF		.506 (.362)	.378 (.352)
Income >9000 CHF		.111 (.348)	00953 (.415)
Vocational training rate			.0354** (.0152)
Children in school			.282 (.21)
Age			0142*** (.00504)
Male			322 (.237)
Latin Switzerland			.91* (.477)
Rural areas			.0946 (.374)
Small town			0265 (.278)
Constant	1.17*** (.131)	.0137 (.387)	-1.91* (1.05)

The second question in this first dimension investigates the concrete division of public resources between vocational education and training, on one side, and academic educational pathways (Gymnasien and academic universities), on the other. This issue is addressed directly by asking people which of the two sectors they would give the highest priority when it came to spending public money. The two possible answers were either Gymnasien and universities or vocational education and training (which includes basic and higher vocational education and training). We analyze the probability of choosing vocational education and training over academic education using a standard probit model (see Table 4).

Table 3 continued

	(1)	(2)	(3)
Continuing education			
Right	415* (.241)	401 (.247)	31 (.219)
Left	313 (.289)	23 (.294)	199 (.288)
Compulsory school		.704* (.385)	.54 (.336)
Apprenticeship		.449 (.304)	.323 (.371)
Tertiary, nonacademic		.432 (.375)	.33 (.26)
Income 3000–5000 CHF		.458 (.378)	.394 (.515)
Income 5000–7000 CHF		.514 (.368)	.404 (.394)
Income 7000–9000 CHF		.55 (.392)	.435 (.348)
Income >9000		194 (.388)	312 (.549)
Vocational training rate			.0409** (.0194)
Children in school			32* (.192)
Age			0172*** (.00501)
Male			301 (.194)
Latin Switzerland			.621 (.523)
Rural areas			.282 (.357)
Small town			.117 (.246)
Constant	.719***	0118	-1.92
	(.139)	(.415)	(1.48)
Log Likelihood	-2139.9508	-2116.8919	-2059.8782
Observations	1889	1889	1889

Notes: Multinomial logit of the probability of choosing a certain education sector. Reference group: tertiary education including higher vocational education. Log likelihood of constant-only model: -2139.9508. Standard errors in parentheses. * p < .1, ** p < .05, *** p < .01.

Most of the variation in the preferences can be explained once again by the educational background of the respondents. All respondents without an academic university degree are significantly more likely to prefer investments in vocational education and training over academic education. People without academic degrees are between 7 and 11

Table 4 Probit model of the probability of preferring to allocate more resources to vocational education: Marginal effects

	(1)	(2)	(3)
Right	.00446 (.0189)	.00455 (.019)	.00361 (.0194)
Left	0368* (.0236)	0181 (.0224)	0146 (.0221)
Compulsory school		.114*** (.0182)	.109*** (.0185)
Apprenticeship		.0982*** (.0235)	.0927*** (.0234)
Tertiary, nonacademic		.0726*** (.0193)	.0696*** (.0195)
Income 3000–5000 CHF		.0485* (.0237)	.0454* (.0243)
Income 5000-7000 CHF		.0529** (.0237)	.0487* (.0247)
Income 7000–9000 CHF		.0344 (.0252)	.0312 (.0266)
Income > 9000 CHF		.00484 (.0282)	.0045 (.0296)
Vocational training rate			.00041 (.00131)
Children in school			0234 (.0322)
Age			00982 (.0177)
Male			.00017 (.000513)
Latin Switzerland			.00679 (.0162)
Rural areas			.0369* (.0194)
Small town			.0135 (.0191)
Log Likelihood	-686.24391	-666.05725	-661.64483
Observations	1786	1786	1786

Notes: Log likelihood of constant-only model: -687.84. Standard errors of marginal effects in parentheses. * p < .1, ** p < .05, *** p < .01

percentage points more likely to choose vocational education and training. Additionally, the income level plays a significant role for choosing priorities, with lower income categories having a stronger preference for vocational types of education relative to academic education even after having controlled for educational attainment. People with monthly income under 7,000 CHF are about 5 percentage points more willing to support vocational education.

Who should pay for the education costs?

The second issue concerns the role of the state in financing education, which is analyzed using the four questions described in Section 4. The first one concerns the choice of sources (public vs. private) for funding *higher* vocational/professional education (ISCED 5B). Table 5 shows that, in contrast to the questions regarding the preferences in selecting the educational sector on which to spend public money, political preferences matter considerably when explaining differences concerning the *role* of the state in the funding of education. As outlined in the hypotheses, people who identify themselves more with the political right are less likely to support an increase of public financing for higher vocational/professional training compared with people who sympathize with parties at the center or on the left of the political spectrum. Specifically, people who position themselves on the right side of the political spectrum are about 7 percentage points less likely to support more state spending on higher vocational training than people from the center. Educational and economic backgrounds do not explain much of the differences, ceteris paribus. One exception is the case of people who have a basic vocational training certificate. Surprisingly, these people are less supportive of the state allocating more funds to higher vocational/professional education. One explanation could be that this category of people is made up of those who could have obtained a degree in higher vocational education but did not and therefore do not want to fund something they have more or less explicitly not wanted for themselves or unsuccessfully tried to achieve.

Respondents who are favorable to greater public educational spending in general are also more likely to be in favor of more public funds for higher vocational/professional education. By controlling for an overall preference for spending more on education we ruled out some of the potential bias in the interpretation of the other variables since the differences in the preferences between public and private financing for higher vocational/professional education could simply reflect general differences concerning the levels of public funding of education.

The next question asked the respondents whether students attending universities and universities of applied sciences should bear a greater part of their educational costs by paying higher tuition fees. The results of the probit model are shown in Table 6. Once again, political preferences have a big influence on the response patterns. Respondents with preferences for the right of the political spectrum prefer bigger private contributions, whereas those on the left of the spectrum prefer no change to the actual situation of low tuition fees. Respondents with compulsory schooling only or a basic vocational training certificate are more likely to support the initiative to increase tuition fees. People from the French- or Italian-speaking regions prefer that universities are publicly funded (2 percentage points less likely to choose the alternative that students pay higher fees), the same as people who support increases in public spending in education in general – which shows at least consistency in the response behavior of those surveyed.

Table 5 Probit model of the probability of wanting the state to pay for higher vocational education: Marginal effects

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Right	0775*** (.0272)	0814*** (.0279)	0934*** (.0288)	0734** (.0303)
Left	.131*** (.0288)	.123*** (.0294)	.115*** (.0299)	.116*** (.0313)
Compulsory school		0427 (.0437)	0199 (.0439)	024 (.046)
Apprenticeship		09** (.0384)	0747* (.039)	0704* (.0403)
Tertiary, nonacademic		0163 (.0444)	0025 (.0446)	00113 (.0459)
Income 3000–5000 CHF		.0524 (.0402)	.0669 (.0407)	.0436 (.045)
Income 5000–7000 CHF		.00793 (.0407)	.0392 (.0418)	.0226 (.0455)
Income 7000–9000 CHF		.00455 (.0429)	.0332 (.0445)	.0122 (.0482)
Income > 9000 CHF		0329 (.0445)	.000231 (.0461)	0224 (.0499)
Vocational training rate			00353* (.00205)	00419* (.00214)
Latin Switzerland			.106** (.0437)	.11** (.0454)
Children in school			.00462 (.0257)	.00274 (.027)
Age			.000417 (.000749)	.000551 (.000794)
Male			0264 (.0239)	0111 (.0252)
Rural areas			0592* (.0309)	044 (.0327)
Small town			00859 (.0298)	.0197 (.0313)
Increase in educ. expenditures				.131*** (.0277)
Log likelihood	-1206.9029	-1200.0094	-1170.4045	-1056.5737
Observations	1852	1852	1852	1696

Notes: Log likelihood of constant-only model: –1224.9594. Standard errors of marginal effects in parentheses. * p < .1, ** p < .05, *** p < .01.

The next two questions inquire into the opinion of respondents on whether the private sector invests enough in vocational education and training (Table 7) and whether the government spends enough for vocational schools (Table 8).

Table 6 Probit model of the probability of wanting that university students pay for most of their costs: Marginal effects

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Right	.0572** (.0278)	.0575** (.0286)	.0582* (.0299)	.0488 (.0315)
Left	155*** (.0304)	135*** (.0314)	123*** (.0322)	115*** (.0336)
Compulsory school		.206*** (.0427)	.182*** (.0443)	.159*** (.0465)
Apprenticeship		.139*** (.0396)	.124*** (.0407)	.104** (.0418)
Tertiary, nonacademic		.105** (.0453)	.0956** (.0465)	.0767 (.0477)
Income 3000–5000 CHF		0515 (.0418)	0571 (.0434)	0449 (.0469)
Income 5000–7000 CHF		0223 (.0418)	0403 (.0439)	0214 (.0472)
Income 7000–9000 CHF		0899** (.0434)	0974** (.0461)	0795 (.0493)
Income > 9000 CHF		0166 (.0453)	035 (.0481)	0351 (.051)
Vocational training rate			.00147 (.00212)	.0016 (.00219)
Latin Switzerland			215*** (.0447)	206*** (.0466)
Children in school			0567** (.0268)	0542* (.0279)
Age			.00206*** (.00079)	.00209** (.000833)
Male			.0538** (.025)	.0442* (.0263)
Rural areas			.0453 (.0323)	.0179 (.0342)
Small town			.0117 (.0311)	0152 (.0325)
Increase in educ. expenditures				117*** (.0282)
Log likelihood	-1261.9612	-1245.908	-1185.6617	-1075.9717
Observations	1851	1851	1851	1691

Notes: Log likelihood of constant-only model: -1280.1482. Standard errors of marginal effects in parentheses. * p < .1, ** p < .05, *** p < .01.

The significant differences in the response patterns relate mainly to political preferences and the language region of residence. Respondents who live in the Latin cantons and those having preferences for the left on the political spectrum think that both the private sector and the government should invest more in vocational education and training. In contrast, respondents with compulsory education or a basic vocational training certificate are significantly more satisfied with the current levels of private engagement in vocational education and training.

Table 7 Probit model of the probability of thinking that the private sector invests enough in vocational education: Marginal effects

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Right	.0797*** (.0264)	.0747*** (.027)	.0648** (.0275)	.0535* (.0285)
Left	167*** (.0252)	148*** (.0264)	145*** (.0265)	143*** (.0274)
Compulsory school		.204*** (.0468)	.181*** (.0472)	.171*** (.0488)
Apprenticeship		.0972** (.0389)	.0963** (.0391)	.0743* (.0398)
Tertiary, nonacademic		.000638 (.0451)	.00427 (.0454)	021 (.0448)
Income 3000–5000 CHF		.0421 (.0432)	.0239 (.0435)	.00809 (.0453)
Income 5000–7000 CHF		.0627 (.0431)	.0381 (.0439)	.0209 (.0457)
Income 7000–9000 CHF		.0214 (.0444)	.00484 (.0456)	.00186 (.0475)
Income > 9000 CHF		.0605 (.0469)	.0277 (.0478)	.0104 (.0491)
Vocational training rate			.0000507 (.00203)	0000161 (.00208)
Latin Switzerland			154*** (.0395)	151*** (.0405)
Children in school			0392 (.0246)	0437* (.0254)
Age			.000809 (.000725)	.000692 (.000758)
Male			.0893*** (.0229)	.0691*** (.0239)
Rural areas			.0047 (.0295)	00323 (.0306)
Small town			.0112 (.0288)	.00355 (.0297)
Increase in educ. expenditures				125*** (.0267)
Log likelihood	-1029.5304	-1010.1298	-975.66723	-878.64747
Observations	1744	1744	1744	1608

Notes: Log likelihood of constant-only model: -1058.3074. Standard errors of marginal effects in parentheses. * p < .1, ** p < .05, *** p < .01.

Table 8 Probit model of the probability of thinking that the public sector invests enough in vocational training schools: Marginal effects

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Right	.077** (.0316)	.0673** (.0325)	.0515 (.0334)	.0365 (.0347)
Left	107*** (.0363)	0992*** (.037)	0897** (.0376)	0767* (.0388)
Compulsory school		.0478 (.0509)	.0363 (.0517)	.0261 (.0535)
Apprenticeship		.00775 (.0455)	.0104 (.0462)	.000967 (.0476)
Tertiary, nonacademic		0674 (.0516)	0622 (.0525)	0663 (.0539)
Income 3000–5000 CHF		.0793 (.05)	.0631 (.051)	.0873 (.054)
Income 5000–7000 CHF		.0792 (.0496)	.0547 (.0511)	.0674 (.0542)
Income 7000–9000 CHF		.0674 (.0525)	.0542 (.0546)	.0767 (.0574)
Income > 9000 CHF		.119** (.0525)	.0978* (.0548)	.113* (.0576)
Vocational training rate			.00222 (.00244)	.00236 (.0025)
Latin Switzerland			0729 (.0538)	0775 (.0549)
Children in school			0263 (.0304)	0175 (.0315)
Age			.00103 (.000889)	.00078 (.000931)
Male			.108*** (.028)	.104*** (.0291)
Rural areas			.0112 (.0359)	.00446 (.0373)
Small town			.0413 (.0352)	.0324 (.0364)
Increase in educ. expenditures				072** (.031)
Log likelihood	-969.90536	-964.75969	-945.79289	-881.75509
Observations	1415	1415	1415	1323

Notes: Log likelihood of constant-only model: -979.57287. Standard errors of marginal effects in parentheses. * p < .1, ** p < .05, *** p < .01.

Summary and conclusions

In this paper we have analyzed the determinants of preferences on education policy, both with regard to the distribution of public moneys across educational sectors and to the general level of public investment relative to the private funding of education. Our main focus of analysis has been the difference between vocational and academic types of education. Summarizing our findings, we can state that differences in education policy preferences concerning the types of education to promote can be explained by individual educational background. Individuals tend to support the concentration of resources in those sectors that are closest to their own educational trajectories. Partisan ideology cannot explain these differences in support for vocational training versus academic education. However, when it comes to the level of public investment in human capital formation, partisan ideology emerges as the strongest predictor, whereas educational background and income account for much less of the variation of individual preferences in this dimension. Interestingly, this left-right division is not about the division of labor between the state and the economy in the financing of education, but rather about the distribution of costs between the individual, on the one hand, and the state and the economy, on the other. That is, proponents of the left demand more investment in education both from the state and from the private sector, but they oppose a rise in individual tuition fees. One can interpret this as a preference for collective responsibilities versus individual ones.

We also find that cultural differences and traditions matter in some of the explanations of preference differences. Respondents in cantons with a higher share of vocational education show stronger preference for the development of apprenticeship training relative to tertiary education, and residents in Latin cantons show preferences for a stronger public responsibility relative to an individual one, even after having controlled for political orientation. The latter shows impressively that general or culturally transmitted attitudes concerning the role of the public and the private sectors can dominate individual and topic-related differences. It also shows that individual or collective experience with vocational forms of education matters, relative to academic education, for the degree of support of vocational education, although this is not the only determining factor.

What are possible avenues for future research? Obviously, it would be very worthwhile to expand the study of education policy preference from Switzerland to other countries or the universe of developed (e.g., OECD or EU) countries as a whole. This could, for example, shed light on the question of how much of the support for a particular type of education is rooted in the experiences with these types of education and how open societies are to forms of education that are less common in their national context. The case of Switzerland, in conjunction with a few other countries such as Germany and Austria, may be different in kind from the other OECD countries, because vocational training is well developed and widely regarded as a viable alternative to school-based or academic education. In countries without a well-developed vocational training system, the "prospect of upward mobility" might lead to stronger support of the less well-off for the expansion

of higher education. Unfortunately, data availability poses significant constraints on attempts to test this hypothesis in an internationally comparative context. While data from the International Social Survey Programme (ISSP) and the Eurobarometer might be used to study individual preferences for educational spending and the ranking of academic education over vocational training (Busemeyer 2010; Busemeyer/Jensen 2010), a preferable option would be to conduct original country-level surveys similar to this one. This would allow for a more fine-grained analysis of individual and national preferences.

References

- Alesina, Alberto/George-Marios Angeletos, 2005: Fairness and Redistribution. In: *American Economic Review* 95(4), 960–980.
- Alesina, Alberto/Edward Glaeser/Bruce Sacerdote, 2001: Why Doesn't the United States Have a European-Style Welfare State? In: *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* 2001(2), 187–278.
- Alesina, Alberto/Eliana La Ferrara, 2005: Preferences for Redistribution in the Land of Opportunities. In: *Journal of Public Economics* 89, 897–931.
- Amable, Bruno, 2009: The Differentiation of Social Demands in Europe: The Social Basis of the European Models of Capitalism. In: *Social Indicators Research* 91, 391–426.
- Ansell, Ben W., 2008: University Challenges: Explaining Institutional Change in Higher Education. In: *World Politics* 60(January 2008), 189–230.
- Arts, Wil/John Gelissen, 2001: Welfare States, Solidarity and Justice Principles: Does the Type Really Matter? In: *Acta Sociologica* 44(4), 283–299.
- Bean, Clive/Elim Papadakis, 1998: A Comparison of Mass Attitudes towards the Welfare State in Different Institutional Regimes, 1985–1990. In: *International Journal of Public Opinion Research* 10(3), 211–236.
- Becker, Rolf, 2003: Educational Expansion and Persistent Inequalities of Education: Utilizing Subjective Expected Utility Theory to Explain Increasing Participation Rates in Upper Secondary School in the Federal Republic of Germany. In: *European Sociological Review* 19(1), 1–24.
- Becker, Rolf/Anna E. Hecken, 2009: Higher Education or Vocational Training? An Empirical Test of the Rational Action Model of Educational Choices Suggested by Breen and Goldthorpe and Esser. In: *Acta Sociologica* 52(1), 25–45.
- Benabou, Roland/Efe A. Ok, 2001: Social Mobility and the Demand for Redistribution: The POUM Hypothesis. In: *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 116(2), 447–487.
- Blekesaune, Morten, 2007: Economic Conditions and Public Attitudes to Welfare Policies. In: *European Sociological Review* 23(3), 393–403.
- Blekesaune, Morten/Jill Quadagno, 2003: Public Attitudes toward Welfare State Policies: A Comparative Analysis of 24 Countries. In: *European Sociological Review* 19(5), 415–427.
- Blossfeld, Hans-Peter/Yossi Shavit (eds.), 1993: Persistent Inequality: Changing Educational Attainment in Thirteen Countries. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Boeri, Tito/Axel Börsch-Supan/Guido Tabellini, 2001: Would You Like to Shrink the Welfare State? A Survey of European Citizens. In: *Economic Policy* 16(32), 9–50.
- Boix, Carles, 1998: Political Parties, Growth and Equality: Conservative and Social Democratic Economic Strategies in the World Economy. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Boudon, Raymond, 1974: Education, Opportunity, and Social Inequality. New York: Wiley.
- Breen, Richard/John H. Goldthorpe, 1997: Explaining Educational Differentials: Towards a Formal Rational Action Theory. In: *Rationality and Society* 9, 275–305.
- Brooks, Clem/Jeff Manza, 2007: Why Welfare States Persist: The Importance of Public Opinion in Democracies. Chicago: University of Chicago.

- Bundesamt für Statistik, 2008: Statistik der beruflichen Grundbildung 2007. Neuenburg: Bundesamt für Statistik.
- Busemeyer, Marius R., 2007: The Determinants of Public Education Spending in 21 OECD Democracies, 1980–2001. In: Journal of European Public Policy 14(4), 582–610.
- Busemeyer, Marius R., 2009: Social Democrats and the New Partisan Politics of Public Investment in Education. In: *Journal of European Public Policy* 16(1), 107–126.
- , 2010: Inequality and the Political Economy of Education: An Analysis of Individual Preferences in OECD countries. Conference paper. Workshop on "Welfare State Traditions, Education and Higher Education Policy," University of Konstanz, 5–7 May 2010.
- Busemeyer, Marius R./Achim Goerres/Simon Weschle, 2009: Attitudes Towards Redistributive Spending in an Era of Demographic Ageing: The Rival Pressures from Age and Income in 14 OECD Countries. In: *Journal of European Social Policy* 19(3), 195–212.
- Busemeyer, Marius R./Carsten Jensen, 2010: Capitalist Systems and Education Policy Preferences. Conference paper. Biannual conference of the Council for European Studies, Montreal, April 2010.
- Button, James W., 1992: A Sign of Generational Conflict: The Impact of Florida's Aging Voters on Local School and Tax Referenda. In: Social Science Quarterly 73(4), 786–797.
- Castles, Francis G., 1982: The Impact of Parties on Public Expenditure. In: Francis G. Castles (ed.), The Impact of Parties: Politics and Policies in Democratic Capitalist States. London: Sage, 21–96.
- Cattaneo, Maria A./Stefan C. Wolter, 2009: Are the Elderly a Threat to Educational Expenditures? In: European Journal of Political Economy 25(2), 225–236.
- Corneo, Giacomo/Hans P. Grüner, 2000: Social Limits to Redistribution. In: American Economic Review 90(5), 1491-1507.
- , 2002: Individual Preferences for Political Redistribution. In: Journal of Public Economics 83, 83-107.
- Cusack, Thomas R./Torben Iversen/Philipp Rehm, 2006: Risks at Work: The Demand and Supply Sides of Government Redistribution. In: Oxford Review of Economic Policy 22(3), 365–389.
- Esping-Andersen, Gøsta, 1990: The Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Esser, Hartmut, 1999: Soziologie: Spezielle Grundlagen, Bd. 1: Situationslogik und Handeln. Frankfurt a.M.: Campus.
- Fong, Christina, 2001: Social Preferences, Self-Interest, and the Demand for Redistribution. In: Journal of Public Economics 82, 225-246.
- Fraile, Marta/Mariona Ferrer, 2005: Explaining the Determinants of Public Support for Cuts in Unemployment Benefits Spending across OECD Countries. In: International Sociology 20(4), 459-481.
- Goldthorpe, John H., 1996: Class Analysis and the Reorientation of Class Theory: The Case of Persisting Differentials in Educational Attainment. In: British Journal of Sociology 47(3), 481–505.
- Grob, Ueli/Stefan C. Wolter, 2007: Demographic Change and Public Education Spending: A Conflict between Young and Old? In: Education Economics 15(3), 277-292.
- Hasenfeld, Yeheskel/Jane A. Rafferty, 1989: The Determinants of Public Attitudes Toward the Welfare State. In: Social Forces 67(4), 1027–1048.
- Hillmert, Steffen/Marita Jacob, 2002: Social Inequality in Higher Education: Is Vocational Training a Pathway Leading to or away from University? In: European Sociological Review 19(3), 319–334.
- Iversen, Torben/David Soskice, 2001: An Asset Theory of Social Policy Preferences. In: American Political Science Review 95(4), 875–893.
- -, 2009: Distribution and Redistribution: The Shadow of the Nineteenth Century. In: World Politics 61(3), 438–486.
- Iversen, Torben/John D. Stephens, 2008: Partisan Politics, the Welfare State, and Three Worlds of Human Capital Formation. In: Comparative Political Studies 41(4–5), 600–637.
- Jaeger, Mads M., 2007: Economic and Social Returns to Educational Choices: Extending the Utility Function. In: Rationality and Society 19(4), 451–483.
- , 2009: United but Divided: Welfare Regimes and the Level and Variance in Public Support for Redistribution. In: European Sociological Review 25(6), 723–737.

- Jensen, Carsten, 2011: Capitalist Systems, De-industrialization, and the Politics of Public Education. In: *Comparative Political Studies* 44(6), forthcoming.
- Kangas, Olli E., 1997: Self-Interest and the Common Good: The Impact of Norms, Selfishness and Context in Social Policy Opinions. In: *Journal of Socio-Economics* 26(5), 475–494.
- ——, 2003: The Grasshopper and the Ants: Popular Opinions of Just Distribution in Australia and Finland. In: *Journal of Socio-Economics* 31, 721–743.
- Kenworthy, Lane, 2009: The Effect of Public Opinion on Social Policy Generosity. In: *Socio-Economic Review* 7, 727–740.
- Kenworthy, Lane/Leslie McCall, 2008: Inequality, Public Opinion and Redistribution. In: *Socio-Economic Review* 6, 35–68.
- Lipsmeyer, Christine S./Timothy Nordstrom, 2003: East versus West: Comparing Political Attitudes and Welfare Preferences across European Societies. In: *Journal of European Public Policy* 10(3), 339–364.
- Lynch, Julia/Mikko Myrskylä, 2009: Always the Third Rail? Pension Income and Policy Preferences in European Democracies. In: *Comparative Political Studies* 42(8), 1068–1097.
- March, James G./Johan P. Olsen, 1984: The New Institutionalism: Organizational Factors in Political Life. In: *American Political Science Review* 78(3), 734–749.
- Meltzer, Allan H./Scott F. Richard, 1981: A Rational Theory of the Size of Government. In: *Journal of Political Economy* 89(5), 914–927.
- Moene, Karl O./Michael Wallerstein, 2003: Earnings Inequality and Welfare Spending: A Disaggregated Analysis. In: *World Politics* 55(4), 485–516.
- Oorschot, Wim van, 2006: Making the Difference in Europe: Deservingness Perceptions among Citizens of European Welfare States. In: *Journal of European Social Policy* 16(1), 23–42.
- Papadakis, Elim, 1993: Class Interests, Class Politics and Welfare State Regimes. In: *British Journal of Sociology* 44(2), 249–270.
- Piketty, Thomas, 1995: Social Mobility and Redistributive Politics. In: *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 110(5), 551–584.
- Raftery, Adrian E./Michael Hout, 1993: Maximally Maintained Inequality: Expansion, Reform, and Opportunity in Irish Education. In: *Sociology of Education* 66(1), 41–62.
- Rehm, Philipp, 2009: Risk and Redistribution: An Individual-Level Analysis. In: *Comparative Political Studies* 42(7), 855–881.
- Roller, Edeltraud, 1999: Shrinking the Welfare State: Citizens' Attitudes towards Cuts in Social Spending in Germany in the 1990s. In: *German Politics* 8(1), 21–39.
- Rothstein, Bo, 1998: *Just Institutions Matter: The Moral and Political Logic of the Universal Welfare State.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Scheve, K./D. Stasavage, 2006: Religion and Preferences for Social Insurance. In: *Quarterly Journal of Political Science* 1, 255–286.
- Schmidt, Manfred G., 2007: Testing the Retrenchment Hypothesis: Educational Spending, 1960–2002. In: Francis G. Castles (ed.), *The Disappearing State? Retrenchment Realities in an Age of Globalisation*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar, 159–183.
- Stocké, Volker, 2007: Explaining Educational Decision and Effects of Families' Social Class Position: An Empirical Test of the Breen-Goldthorpe Model of Educational Attainment. In: *European Sociological Review* 23(4), 505–519.
- Wasmer, Etienne, 2006: General versus Specific Skills in Labor Markets with Search Frictions and Firing Costs. In: *American Economic Review* 96(3), 811–831.
- Wilensky, Harold L., 1975: *The Welfare State and Equality: Structural and Ideological Roots of Public Expenditures.* Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Wlezien, Christopher, 1995: The Public as Thermostat: Dynamics of Preferences for Spending. In: *American Journal of Political Science* 39(4), 981–1000.
- Wolter, Stefan C., 2007: Das Berufsbildungswesen der Schweiz. In: Jens U. Prager/Clemens Wieland (eds.), *Duales Ausbildungssystem Quo vadis? Berufliche Bildung auf neuen Wegen*. Gütersloh: Verlag Bertelsmann Stiftung, 77–90.
- Wolter, Stefan C./Samuel Mühlemann/Jürg Schweri, 2006: Why Some Firms Train Apprentices and Many Others Not. In: *German Economic Review* 7(3), 249–264.

Recent Titles in the Publication Series of the MPIfG

MPIfG Discussion Papers

DP 10/10 S. Freye Germany's New Top Managers? The Corporate Elite in Flux,

DP 10/9 J. J. Fernandez

1960-2005

Economic Crises, High Public Pension Spending and Blameavoidance Strategies: Pension Policy Retrenchments in 14 Social-insurance Countries, 1981–2005

DP 10/8
M. Höpner, A. Schäfer
Polanyi in Brussels?
Embeddedness and the Three
Dimensions of European
Economic Integration

DP 10/7 R. Karadag **Neoliberal Restructuring in Turkey:** From State to Oligarchic Capitalism

DP 10/6 L. Dobusch, S. Quack Urheberrecht zwischen Kreativität und Verwertung: Transnationale Mobilisierung und private Regulierung

DP 10/5 W. Streeck, D. Mertens **Politik im Defizit:** Austerität als fiskalpolitisches Regime

DP 10/4
J. Beckert
The Transcending Power of
Goods: Imaginative Value in
the Economy

MPIfG Working Papers

WP 10/7
J. Beckert
Are We Still Modern?
Inheritance Law and the
Broken Promise of the
Enlightenment

WP 10/6 S. Neckel **Refeudalisierung der** Ökonomie: Zum Strukturwandel kapitalistischer Wirtschaft

WP 10/5 R. Mayntz Legitimacy and Compliance in Transnational Governance

WP 10/4
S. Kirchner
Organizational Identities
and Institutions: Dynamics of
the Organizational Core as a
Question of Path Dependence

WP 10/3 W. Streeck, D. Mertens An Index of Fiscal Democracy

WP 10/2 M. Höpner Warum betreibt der Europäische Gerichtshof Rechtsfortbildung? Die Politisierungshypothese

MPIfG Books

M. Lutter
Märkte für Träume:
Die Soziologie des Lottospiels
Campus, 2010

S. Münnich Interessen und Ideen: Die Entstehung der Arbeitslosenversicherung in Deutschland und den USA Campus, 2010

P. Aspers
Orderly Fashion:
A Sociology of Markets
Princeton University Press, 2010

M.-L. Djelic, S. Quack (eds.) Transnational Communities: Shaping Global Economic Governance Cambridge University Press, 2010

B. Apitzsch
Flexible Beschäftigung,
neue Abhängigkeiten:
Projektarbeitsmärkte und
ihre Auswirkungen auf
Lebensverläufe
Campus, 2010

F. W. Scharpf
Community and Autonomy:
Institutions, Policies and
Legitimacy in Multilevel Europe
Campus, 2010

J. Beckert, C. Deutschmann (Hg.) Wirtschaftssoziologie VS-Verlag, 2009

Ordering Information

MPIfG Discussion Papers

Order printed copies from the MPIfG (you will be billed) or download PDF files from the MPIfG website (free).

MPIfG Working Papers

Order printed copies from the MPIfG (you will be billed) or download PDF files from the MPIfG website (free).

MPIfG Books
At bookstores; abstracts on the MPIfG website.

www.mpifg.de Go to *Publications*.

New Title

Consult our website for the most complete and upto-date information about MPIfG publications and publications by MPIfG researchers. To sign up for newsletters and mailings, please go to Service on the MPIfG website. Upon request to info@mpifg.de, we will be happy to send you our Recent Publications brochure.

ERPA

MPIfG Discussion Papers and MPIfG Working Papers in the field of European integration research are included in the *European Research Papers Archive (ERPA)*, which offers full-text search options: http://eiop.or.at/erpa.